
This meeting is being recorded for public 
review on the City of Millersburg website. 

 
 
 
 

 
CITY OF MILLERSBURG 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
This meeting will be conducted remotely. See instructions below to join. 

March 16, 2021 @ 6:00 p.m. 
 

Agenda 
 

Instructions for joining the meeting by computer or phone are attached to this agenda.  If 
you do not have access to a phone or computer, or need additional support, please 

contact City Hall prior to 5:00 p.m. on Thursday, January 19th. 
 

Meeting link to join via computer: 
https://aspenuc.accessionmeeting.com/j/1167791701 

 

Phone number to join meeting:  503-212-9900 
Meeting ID:  116 779 1701 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 

 
B. ROLL CALL 

 
C. MEETING MINUTE APPROVAL 

1) Planning Commission Meeting held on: 
i. January 19, 2020 Planning Commission Meeting. 

 
D. QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING 

1) File No: SP 20-03 Mitchell Building 
The applicant is proposing to renovate an existing structure for a new use. The 
0.23 acre property contains a 2,800 square foot structure that is now proposed 
to be used as offices and retail. The project would include: repairs to the 2,800 
square foot building, new cladding, façade changes, creating two 
office/retail spaces inside the structure, a new parking area south of the 
structure, new signs, and landscaping. 
 

E. CITY PLANNER UPDATE 
 

F. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Upcoming Meeting(s): 
April 13, 2021 @ 6:30 p.m. – City Council Meeting 
April 20, 2021 @ 6:00 p.m. – Tentative Planning Commission Meeting 
 

 
The location of the meeting is accessible to the disabled. If you have a disability that requires accommodation 

to attend or participate, please notify the Millersburg City Hall in advance by calling 458-233-6300. 

Microphones will be muted and webcams will be turned off 
for presenters and members of the public unless called upon 
to speak. 
 
If participant(s) disrupt the meeting, the participant(s) 
microphone and webcam will be turned off. 
 
If disruption continues, the participant(s) will be removed 
from the meeting. 

https://aspenuc.accessionmeeting.com/j/1167791701


 
CITY OF MILLERSBURG 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
4222 NE Old Salem Road 

Tuesday, January 19th, 2021 
6:00 pm 

 

Minutes 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER: Commission Chair Anne Peltier called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 
 

B. ROLL CALL:  
Members Present:  Connie Lepin, Steve Vogler, Anne Peltier, Monte Ayers, Mark 

Raum, and Caryl Thomas. Ryan Penning joined at 6:04 pm. 
 Members Absent:  None 

Staff Present: Matt Straite, City Planner; Jake Gabell, Deputy City Recorder; 
Janelle Booth, Assistant City Manager/City Engineer; Kevin 
Kreitman, City Manager; and Forrest Reid, City Attorney 

 
C. MEETING MINUTE APPROVAL 

1) Review and Acceptance of October 22, 2020 Meeting Minutes. 
Action:  Motion to accept the minutes as corrected during the meeting made by 
Commissioner Vogler; a second given by Commissioner Lepin. 
Chair Peltier:   Yes 
Commissioner Lepin: Yes 
Commissioner Vogler: Yes 
Commissioner Raum: Yes 
Commissioner Ayers: Yes 
Commissioner Thomas: Yes 
Motion Passed: 6/0 

 
D. QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARINGS 

1) Public hearing on Land Use File SP 20-04 opened by Commission Chair Peltier at 
6:04 pm. 

 
File No: SP 20-04 New Fire Station 
Proposal: The applicant is requesting to build a new fire station on a 3.61-acre 
portion of a City-owned vacant property located south of City Hall on a new 
proposed street. The building will feature 6 employees per shift, 12 at shift change. 
More specifically the application proposes: 
• A 9,935 square foot new building, including a kitchen, exercise room, 5 vehicle 
bays, 6 dormitory style living quarters, restrooms, a dayroom (living room-style 
area), 2 offices, a laundry room, equipment rooms, and a conference room 
space 
• 29 parking spaces 
• 760 feet of new road construction (two new streets located off Old Salem Road) 
• 2 stormwater basins 
• Landscaping, both internal to the parking area and streetscape landscaping 
 

i. No conflicts of interest or ex parte contacts stated by any member of the 
Planning Commission. 

ii. Staff report was presented by Matt Straite, City Planner. 
iii. The applicant is the City of Millersburg. No further testimony or comments 

by the applicant. 



 
1. Questions by the planning commissioners about the fire signal, 

landscape mediums in the road, and the current temporary fire 
station. 

iv. Public Testimony. 
1. No public testimony given. 

 
Public hearing closed at 6:30 pm by Chair Peltier. 

i. Deliberation of Planning Commissioners with questions for staff. 
1. No further deliberation. 

 
ACTION 
The following Motion was made by Commissioner Vogler: 
Based upon the findings of fact in the staff report, and the conditions of approval, 
the proposed project satisfied the applicable criteria and standards, the Planning 
Commission approves Site Plan SP 20-04 with the conditions of approval.  
 
A second was given by Commissioner Thomas. 
Chair Peltier:   Yes 
Commissioner Lepin: Yes 
Commissioner Vogler: Yes 
Commissioner Raum: Yes 
Commissioner Ayers: Yes 
Commissioner Thomas: Yes 
Commissioner Penning: Yes 
Motion Passed: 7/0 

 
E. City Planner Update:  

1) City Planner Matt Straite gave an update the current land use application status. 
2) City Manager Kevin Kreitman gave an update on the codification of the new 

Development Code and when the final draft will be printed for the Planning 
Commission use.  

 
F. Meeting adjourned by Commission Chair Peltier at 6:37 pm. 

 
 
Respectfully submitted:     Reviewed by: 
 
 
 
 
Jake Gabell       Matt Straite 
Deputy City Recorder     City Planner 



SP 20-03 Mitchell Building Page 1 of 14 
Staff Report to Planning Commission – March 16, 2021 

  City of Millersburg March 9, 2021 
STAFF REPORT:  

File No: SP 20-03 MITCHELL BUILDING 

Proposal: The applicant is proposing to renovate an existing structure for a new use.  The 0.23 acre 
property contains a 2,800 square foot structure that is now proposed to be used as offices and retail. 
The project would include: 

• Repairs to the 2,800 sq foot building
• New cladding
• Façade changes
• Creating two office/retail spaces inside the structure
• A new parking area south of the structure
• New signs
• Landscaping

I. BACKGROUND

A. Applicant: Josh Mitchell 

B. Location: 1305 NE Old Salem Road 

C. Review Type: The proposed Site Plan Review requires a hearing before the
Planning Commission. The Planning Commission is scheduled to hold a hearing on
the application on March 16, 2021.  The Planning Commission decision can be
appealed to the City Council.  Any appeal of the City Council’s decision relating
to this matter will be considered by the Oregon Land Use Board of Appeals (LUBA).

D. Public Notice and Hearing: Notice was mailed to all property owners within 100
feet of the proposed location, posted in City Hall on February 18, 2021, and posted
on the City’s website.

E. Review Criteria: Article 2 §2.400(2) Site Plan Review Criteria.  It should be noted that
even though the all-new Development Code has recently been adopted, this
project was submitted before the new Code took effect.  As such, it is uses the
code that was in effect at the time the application was submitted, which is the old
Development Code.

F. Current Zoning: General Industrial (GI) however, the applicant applied while the
zoning was still Limited Industrial/Commercial (LI/C), therefore the old zone and
zoning regulations apply to this application.



SP 20-03 Mitchell Building  Page 2 of 14 
Staff Report to Planning Commission – March 16, 2021 

G. Proposed Zoning: N/A 
 
H. Property Size:  0.23 Acres  
 
I. Background: The structure on the site is existing.  The original date of construction 

is 1976.  The last use in the structure was a martial arts gym and archery center.  On 
April 12, 2016 the building sustained fire damage and has been vacant ever since.  
The applicant is repairing the structure with no changes to the footprint.          

 
 
II. AFFECTED AGENCY, PUBLIC NOTICE, AND PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

Agencies: 
The applicant’s materials were transmitted to the following agencies/departments 
on January 29, 2021: City of Albany, Albany Fire Department, Linn County Sheriff’s 
Office, City of Millersburg Engineer, Oregon Department of Transportation. To date, 
the following comments have been received: 

• Linn County Road Department February 5, 2021 
• City of Millersburg Engineering dated February 23, 2021 

 
Public:  
Notice of the March 16, 2021 hearing was mailed to all property owners within 100 
feet of the property. To date, no written comments from the public have been 
received by staff. 
 
 

III. CRITERION 
CITY OF MILLERSBURG DEVELOPMENT CODE  

The applicable site plan review criteria are from section 2.400(2). 
 

(2) Decision Criteria. After an examination of the Site and prior to approval, the 
Planning Commission must make the following findings:  

(a) That the proposed development or use does not conflict with the City's 
Comprehensive Plan.  

ANALYSIS:  Section 9 of the Comprehensive Plan contains a list of Land Use Goals 
and Policies.  The proposed expansion is consistent with the zone purpose and 
zoning regulations, which implement the Comprehensive Plan and its policies.         
 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, the project meets the required criteria. 

 



SP 20-03 Mitchell Building  Page 3 of 14 
Staff Report to Planning Commission – March 16, 2021 

(b) That the proposed development or use complies with the standards of the land use 
zone and does not conflict with city codes and ordinances that are applicable to 
the application.  

ANALYSIS: Based on staff’s review of the proposed alterations and uses, all zoning 
requirements are met.  The Limited Industrial-Commercial Zone (LI/C) permits all 
uses in the Community Commercial Zone (CO).  The CO zone permits retail and 
office uses (Sections 4.121.2.a and e respectively).  Lot size is determined by the 
Commission, coverage is 80%, which the project complies with.  The setbacks 
include a requirement for a 20-foot setback on the front of the structure and zero 
on the back and sides.  The existing structure conforms to these requirements.  

 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, the alterations and uses meet the criteria. 

 

(c) That the proposed development will not have an adverse impact on traffic flow or 
to pedestrian, bicycle and vehicular safety, and future street right-of ways are 
protected.  

ANALYSIS: The applicant has explained in his narrative: 
Looking at ITE data for general trip generation estimates and using small office 
estimates at 2.45 per 1,000SF GFA the proposed use would generate 1.47 new  
trips/hour for a 600sf office space. For retail estimates I chose Building Materials 
and Lumber at 2.06 per 1,000SF GFA for an approximation of 0.412 trips/hour at 
200SF of retail space. That would create an estimated traffic impact of 1.74 
trips/hour. The previous usage as general industrial had estimated trips of 1.88 
trips/hour. I believe our use would be of lower impact to traffic flow. 
Furthermore, our proposal has no alterations to existing pedestrian, bicycle or 
vehicular patterns currently in place. No additional accesses or driveways are 
proposed as well.        

 
Staff concurs with this analysis.  The structure has been in this location for a long 
time, and the street has capacity to accommodate the existing uses.   
 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, the project meets the required criteria. 

 

(d) That proposed signs or lighting will not, by size, location, color or operation, have 
an adverse impact on traffic, limit visibility or have an adverse impact on adjacent 
properties.  

ANALYSIS: The applicant is proposing two signs with his Site Design Review 
application.  One for each proposed space.  No lighting is proposed though some 
uplighting will not create any detrimental traffic impacts.   The two signs conform 
with the requirements of Section 5.136.  One wall sign is permitted per business; 
these proposed signs conform.   



SP 20-03 Mitchell Building  Page 4 of 14 
Staff Report to Planning Commission – March 16, 2021 

 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, the project meets the required criteria.    

 

(e) That water, wastewater disposal and utilities are available and have the capacity 
to serve the proposed development or use and can be extended in the future to 
accommodate future growth beyond the proposed land division.  

ANALYSIS:  The site currently features a full complement of utilities.  The proposed 
revisions will not require any more utilities than the previous uses in the structure.  
The project would not need to run utilities extensions to surrounding uses.  There is 
only one neighbor, and they already have access to utilities.           
 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, the project meets the required criteria. 

 
(f)  That the proposed development or use does not have an adverse impact on 

existing or proposed drainageways including flow disruptions, flooding, 
contamination or erosion and required drainage facilities are provided that have 
the capacity to serve the proposed development or use.  

ANALYSIS: Based on a review by the City Engineer no additional drainage features 
will be required onsite.  The existing drainage patterns will not be changed.   
 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, the project meets the required criteria. 

(g)  That the proposed development will not have an adverse impact, potential 
hazards or nuisance characteristics as identified in Section 2.140, Item 21 of the 
Application Site Plan consistent with the standards of the Zoning District and 
complies with the applicable standards of all regulatory agencies having 
jurisdiction.  

ANALYSIS: The proposed use includes storage areas, a renovated office and a 
retail area. It is not anticipated that this proposed use will generate or use any 
materials that would trigger nuisance concerns outlined in Section 2.140.              
 
FINDING: This project meets this criterion. 

 
(h)  That the proposed development or use does not conflict with the standards of other 

regulatory agencies having jurisdiction.  

ANALYSIS: The proposed project was transmitted to several local and State 
agencies for review.  City Engineering responded with some conditions of 
approval, all of which were standard.  The County Road Department responded 
with one condition of approval.  These have been added as conditions of 
approval.  The City received no other responses.   
 



SP 20-03 Mitchell Building  Page 5 of 14 
Staff Report to Planning Commission – March 16, 2021 

FINDING: Based on the analysis above, with conditions of approval, the project 
meets the required criteria. 

 
 
IV.  STANDARDS 
 
The proposed design complies with all the specifications and design requirements of 
Chapter 4, specifically the LI/C zone setbacks, and Chapter 5, Development Standards.  The 
following analysis summary is provided for items that required additional explanation and/or 
additional conditions of approval to show clear consistency: 
 
 
SECTION 5.120  PARKING 
 
(1) Design and Improvement Requirements for Parking Lots: 

(a) All parking areas and driveway approaches shall be paved in accordance with 
the ACS (Albany Construction Standards) unless gravel is approved by the 
Planning Commission as a temporary use to facilitate drainage through the Site 
Plan Review, Conditional Use or Variance procedures of this Code. Permitted 
graveled areas are a temporary use and shall be paved in accordance with the 
ACS when requested by the City. 

 
ANALYSIS: The applicant shows two different parking areas, one to the north of the 
site and the other to the south.  The parking to the north is paved; the parking to 
the south is not.  The parking area to the north is currently behind a gate.  Because 
the parking area to the north is adequate to meet the needs identified by the 
applicant (see analysis for Code Section 5.121), the area to the south provides 
parking beyond those required by the code.  These standards only apply to the 
spaces required by Section 5.210.  Therefore, the southern lot does not need to be 
paved.   

 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, the project meets the standard. 
 
 

(3) Required parking spaces shall be available for the parking of operable motor vehicles 
for residents, customers, patrons and employees only and shall not be used for 
storage of vehicles or materials or for the parking of trucks used in conducting the 
business or for repair of servicing. 

 
ANALYSIS: The existing site features a gated area.  Traditionally the area behind a 
gate can be used for storage of vehicles; however, the applicant is showing parking 
for staff and patrons in this area as well.  A condition of approval has been added to 
clarify that the 5 spaces shown on the site plan must remain open for patrons and 
staff, not as any kind of vehicle storage for the proposed uses.   

 



SP 20-03 Mitchell Building  Page 6 of 14 
Staff Report to Planning Commission – March 16, 2021 

FINDING: Based on the analysis above, with conditions of approval, the project meets 
the standard. 
 
CONDITION OF APPROVAL: All striped spaces shown on the application materials shall 
remain available for parking of patron and staff.  No vehicle storge is permitted in the 
5 spaces shown.   

 
(5)  Should the owner or occupant of a lot or building change the use of the property to a 

use that increases the off-street parking requirements, it shall be unlawful and a 
violation of this Code to begin to maintain such altered use until the required increase 
in off-street parking is provided. 

 
ANALYSIS: The project is proposing adequate parking. See analysis below for Code 
Section 5.121. 

 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, the project meets the standard. 
 

(9)  Parking lots shall be provided with landscaping as provided in Section 5.134 and other 
suitable devices in order to divide the parking lot into sub-units to provide for 
pedestrian safety, traffic control, and to improve the appearance of the parking lot. 

 
ANALYSIS:  A conceptual landscape plan was provided showing some landscaping 
in the setback.  No landscaping is existing or proposed within the parking area.  A 
condition of approval is proposed to require the applicant to add one landscape 
island.  The Code explains that 5% of the parking must be paved if the parking lot 
provides over 16 spaces.  This site provides only 5 spaces, so the 5% minimum would 
not apply.  Given the size of the site and the structure staff recommends that the 
project meets the requirement with the condition of approval.  See the analysis for 
Section 5.134 for more detail.   

 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, with conditions of approval, the project meets 
the standard. 
 
CONDITION OF APPROVAL: Prior to occupancy the applicant shall provide a full 
landscape plan showing all site landscaping in detail, including plant density, species, 
irrigation and sizes.    

 
SECTION 5.121  OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS 
 

ANALYSIS: The applicant has indicated that the 2,800 square foot building is planned 
to feature 2 new spaces for new uses—a 600 square foot office and 200 square feet 
of retail space.  The narrative explains that the remaining 1,800 square feet are to 
remain unfinished and not allocated to either of the planned uses except some 
shared kitchen and bathroom spaces.   The applicant therefore based his parking 
need off only the proposed 800 square feet of improved uses.  This results in a very 



SP 20-03 Mitchell Building  Page 7 of 14 
Staff Report to Planning Commission – March 16, 2021 

small requirement for parking.  Should this application be approved, it would only 
permit uses in the 800 square feet identified.  Any use in the 1,800 square feet of 
leftover space in the structure would require additional Site Plan Review approval 
prior to the use of that space.  As such, the following only analyzes the 800 square feet 
identified.   
 
 600 sq ft Office 200 sq ft Retail Total 
Code req. 1 per 300 sq. ft. 1 per 200 sq. ft.  
Spaces req 2 1 3 

 
The project requires a total of 3 parking spaces.  Five are shown on the site plan.   

 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, the project meets the standards. 

 
SECTION 5.122 TRANSPORTATION STANDARDS 
(2)  Millersburg Street Plan Conformance 

(b) The level of participation by property owners in street improvements shall be 
determined based upon evaluation of the amount of frontage that exists on 
an existing or future public street and upon the impacts of the proposed 
development to the City’s street system. 

 
(4)  Existing Street Improvements 

(a) Proposed development on property that is served by an existing public street or 
right of way that does not meet the City’s adopted street standards shall improve 
the existing street or right of way to accommodate the proposal and bring the 
street into compliance with City standards. 

 
SECTION 5.123 STREETS 
(5)  Street Design Considerations for Subdivision, Partition, Site Plan Review, Conditional 

Use or Variance approval: 
(e) Street trees shall be provided as specified in Section 5.134. 
(f) Any right-of-way remaining after constructing the above improvements shall 

be utilized for landscaping and utilities. 
(g) Street design shall include landscape strips between the curb and sidewalk 

unless otherwise approved by the Planning Commission. 
 
SECTION 5.124 SIDEWALKS 
Sidewalks may be deferred by the City where future road or utility improvements will occur 
and on property in the rural fringe of the City where urban construction standards have not 
yet occurred. The property owner is obligated to provide the sidewalk when requested by the 
City or is obligated to pay their fair share if sidewalks are installed by the City at a later date. 
The cost of deferred improvements will be paid by the owner and shall be placed into the 
City’s Street Fund to pay for future improvements. 
 

ANALYSIS: The sections above were included in the staff report to show the 
Commission that proposed site plan reviews must bring any existing streets into full 



SP 20-03 Mitchell Building  Page 8 of 14 
Staff Report to Planning Commission – March 16, 2021 

conformance.  This includes street right-of-way landscaping.  However, the site is 
highly constrained due to the placement of the existing structure and the existing 
access pavement.  There are currently no sidewalks on that side of the street on the 
project site or anywhere near the site.  Old Salem Road is a County facility.   
 
While the City does have standards for all streets in the City, the streets owned and 
operated by the Linn County are ultimately under their jurisdiction.  This project was 
transmitted to the Linn County Road Department for review.  They requested that a 
condition of approval be added regarding access, they did not comment on the 
sidewalk.  City staff feels that additional sidewalks fronting just the project site would 
not be appropriate at this time. Section 5.122 allows the City discretion on the amount 
of application participation in street improvements, including sidewalks. Staff 
recommends that the Commission not require sidewalks but instead require that the 
applicant participate in a waiver of remonstrance.  This is a document that has the 
applicant (and all future owners) agree to pay their fair share of the costs to fully 
improve the site frontage, including sidewalks, if and when the City (or County) elects 
to construct any street improvements on the site frontage.   A condition of approval 
has been added to reflect this.   
 
The same situation applies to landscaping in the street ROW.  While a landscape strip 
is required, it would not be appropriate at this time to add such a strip.  Power lines 
run along the street edge in front of the project site, and the applicant currently has 
an internal driveway in front of the structure that would hamper the addition of any 
landscape strips.  The waiver of remonstrance would apply to street landscaping as 
well.   

 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, with conditions of approval, the project meets 
the standards. 
 
CONDITION OF APPROVAL: Prior to occupancy of the structure the applicant shall sign 
a waiver of remonstrance regarding street improvements.   

 
SECTION 5.134  LANDSCAPING 
 
All properties shall be landscaped and maintained according to the standards contained 
herein. All front yard or street side yard setbacks and parking areas shall be landscaped in 
accordance with the following requirements: 

 
(a)  Landscaping shall primarily consist of ground cover, trees, shrubs or other living 

plants with irrigation to maintain all vegetation. 
(b)  A site and species-specific, detailed landscape and irrigation plan shall be 

submitted to the City for review and approval with all applications. Existing trees, 
plantings and special site features shall be shown on all submitted plans and shall 
clearly indicate items proposed to be removed and those intended to be preserved. 
The plan shall be drawn to a scale that is a multiple of 1 inch equals 10 feet, shall 



SP 20-03 Mitchell Building  Page 9 of 14 
Staff Report to Planning Commission – March 16, 2021 

include required fencing, buffering, screening, tree plantings, and any monument 
locations. The plans shall be of professional quality, and must be acceptable to the 
City. On-site development shall not be approved until the City determines that the 
plans comply with the standards of this Section. All required landscaping and 
related improvements shall be completed or financially guaranteed prior to the 
issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy. 

(h)  Required landscaping, tree plantings, buffering, screening and fencing shall be 
installed prior to building occupancy. 

(j)  The Planning Commission may approve alternate standards as part of the approval 
process for Site Plan Reviews and Conditional Uses if the alternate standards do 
not alter the purpose and intent of this Section. 

 
(1) Minimum Street-Facing Yard Landscaping. All street facing yard areas are required 

to be landscaped for all zones and uses including residential. Minimum landscaping 
per 1,000 square feet of required landscape area shall be as follows: 
 

(a)  On-site Street Trees in conformance with Item (2) (a) unless Street Trees are 
provided in a street landscaped strip. 

(b)  A minimum of 1 tree at least 8 feet in height if Street Trees are provided in a 
street landscaped strip. 

(c)  Five 1-gallon shrubs or accent plantings. 
(d)  Fifty percent (50%) of the remaining landscaped area exclusive of walks, drives, 

parking areas and buildings shall be planted with suitable living ground cover, 
lawn, ivy, shrubs and other plantings exclusive of decorative design elements 
such as fountains, benches, sculptures, planters and similar elements placed 
within the required landscaping area. The remaining area may be concrete, 
rocks bark or other decorative ground cover. 

 
ANALYSIS: The bulk of the site is currently paved.  The setback is 20 feet, and 12 feet 
of that is a buffer which is supposed to be fully landscaped unless it is used as a drive 
or parking area.  The area within the setback for this unique; existing structure is a 
driveway used to connect the north and south parking area and the two existing 
driveways on the site.  The area left for landscaping opportunities is limited without 
removing existing pavement.  The Commission could require removal should they 
desire.  Section 5.134.J allows the Planning Commission to approve alternative 
standards if the alternative standards support the intent of this section.  That is 
subjective to an extent and should be decided by the Commission.  The intent was 
likely to craft the design of new development.  These standards still apply to existing 
sites, but the intent may not have been to have existing sites modify the property in 
order to comply.  Staff recommends that the landscape plan additions proposed by 
the applicant are sufficient to satisfy this requirement.   

 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, with conditions of approval, the project meets 
the standards. 

 



SP 20-03 Mitchell Building  Page 10 of 14 
Staff Report to Planning Commission – March 16, 2021 

(4)  Parking Lot Landscaping: Trees in parking areas shall be dispersed throughout the lot 
to provide a canopy for shade and visual relief. 

 
(b)  Parking lots shall have curbed landscaped islands and trees at the ends of 

parking rows to facilitate movement of traffic and to break large areas of parking 
surface. The minimum dimension of the landscaped area excluding the curbs 
shall be 4 feet and the landscaping shall be protected from vehicular damage by 
wheel guards. 

 
ANALYSIS: No trees or landscaped islands are existing or proposed.  Again, the 
Planning Commission may approve alternative standards if the intent is met.  
The intent of this sub-section is stated—to provide visual relief and shade.  The 
property features mature Cyprus trees to the rear (east) of the property.  The 
trees are not located on the property, they are within the ODOT right-of-way 
for I-5.  Because they are outside the control of the applicant, staff proposes 
that a condition of approval be added to have the applicant add one 
landscape island with at least one tree.  Should the Commission feel that the 
existing ODOT trees are sufficient to meet the intent this condition could be 
removed.       

 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, with conditions of approval, the project 
meets the standards. 
 
CONDITION OF APPROVAL: Prior to occupancy the applicant shall construct a 
curbed landscaped island at the end of the parking row with no less than one 
tree.   
 

(8)  Landscape Buffering.  Commercial and Industrial Buffer Plantings are used to visually 
enhance the City, reduce building scale, provide transition between uses, and 
generally mitigate incompatible or undesirable views. They are used to soften rather 
than block views. Where required, a mix of plant materials shall be used to achieve 
the desired buffering effect.  

 (a)  A minimum 12-foot wide landscaped buffer is required for all commercial 
and industrial street facing yards. 

 (b)  A buffer depth is 12-feet unless otherwise specified as part of the 
conditions specified for an approval.  

 (c)  A buffer area may only be occupied by landscaping, utilities, driveways, 
walkways, bikeways, and accessways. 

 (e)  Buffering requirements shall supercede the street-facing yard 
landscaping requirements specified in Item (3). 

 
ANALYSIS:    This is explaining that at least 12 feet of the property between the street 
and the building must be landscaped unless it is used as a driveway or accessway.  
Most of the site is paved and used for driveway or access including almost all of the 
area between the building and the street.  The applicant has proposed some minor 



SP 20-03 Mitchell Building  Page 11 of 14 
Staff Report to Planning Commission – March 16, 2021 

landscape improvements in places where they could be added without disrupting 
the existing access.  The Commission must decide if this is enough.  Staff recommends 
that the landscaping proposed by the applicant in the buffer area is sufficient to 
satisfy these standards.  Subsection B above allows the Commission to accept 
alternatives.   

 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, with conditions of approval, the project meets 
the standards. 

 
 
SECTION 5.136  SIGNS 
 
Signs and similar identification devices may be erected and maintained in compliance with 
the following standards unless other standards are approved by the Millersburg Planning 
Commission in conformance with the Site Plan Review procedures of Section 2.400. 

 
(5) Permitted Commercial & Industrial Sign Standards 

(a)  One Surface Wall or Window Sign per business. 
(e)  The aggregate number of signs per street frontage shall be three per 

business or property. 
 
ANALYSIS: The applicant proposes 2 signs.  The specific content of the signs would be 
determined by the tenant once the spaces are rented, but the applicant provided 
enough information to show that the proposed signs will meet the requirements of the 
Code.  There will be less than 3, and only 1 for each tenant.  These standards are met.    

 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, the project meets the standard. 

 
V. RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the above findings of fact, and the conditions of approval, the proposed 
project satisfies the applicable criteria and staff recommends the Planning 
Commission approve Application No. SP 20-03.   

 
VI. PROPOSED MOTION 

I move tha,t based on the findings of fact in the staff report, and the conditions of 
approval, the proposed project satisfies the applicable criteria and the Planning 
Commission approve Site Plan SP 20-03 with the conditions of approval. 

 
VII. ALTERNATIVE RECOMMENDATION 

Should the Planning Commission not elect to approve the proposed development, 
they could continue the item for further discussion or deny the application citing the 
specific criteria not satisfied by the application. 

 



SP 20-03 Mitchell Building  Page 12 of 14 
Staff Report to Planning Commission – March 16, 2021 

 
VIII. CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
 
General Conditions: 

1. This land use approval shall substantially comply with the submitted preliminary site 
plans and elevations included as Exhibits e-g, except as indicated in the following 
conditions. Additional development or change of use may require a new 
development application and approval. 
 

2. All striped spaces shown on the application materials shall remain available for parking 
of patron and staff.  No vehicle storge is permitted in the 5 spaces shown.   
 

3. A commercial access review from the Linn County Road Department will be required. 
Please contact the Linn County Road Department with questions. 
 

 

Prior to Building Occupancy: 

4. Prior to occupancy the applicant shall provide a full landscape plan showing all site 
landscaping in detail, including plant density, species, irrigation and sizes. 
 

5. Prior to occupancy the applicant shall install all new landscaping.  
 

6. Prior to occupancy of the structure the applicant shall sign a waiver of remonstrance 
regarding street improvements.   
 

7. Prior to occupancy the applicant shall construct a curbed landscaped island at the 
end of the parking row with no less than 1 tree.  

 
 
IX. NOTICES TO THE APPLICANT 
 
The applicant should also be aware of the following standards and processes that are 
required for development. These are not part of the decision on this land use case and are 
provided as a courtesy to the applicant. Please contact City Hall with any questions. 
 
1. All required public improvement plans shall be approved by the City prior to beginning 

construction. All utilities shall remain uncovered until inspected and approved by the 
City. All required public improvements shall be completed and approved by the City 
prior to construction. 
 

2. Copies of any required federal or state permits that may be required shall be filed in 
the record file of this application. 



SP 20-03 Mitchell Building  Page 13 of 14 
Staff Report to Planning Commission – March 16, 2021 

 
3. Compliance with the conditions of approval is the responsibility of the developer or its 

successor in interest.  

4. The developer is responsible for all costs associated with any remaining public facility 
improvements and shall ensure the construction of all public streets and utilities within 
and adjacent to the tentative map as required by these conditions of approval, to the 
plans, standards, and specifications of the City of Millersburg.  

5. This approval is valid for a period of one (1) year from the date of the decision notice. 
Extensions may be granted by the City as afforded by the Millersburg Development 
Code. 

6. The continual operation of the property shall comply with the applicable requirements 
of the Millersburg Development Code. 

7. This approval does not negate the need to obtain permits, as appropriate from other 
local, state, or federal agencies, even if not specifically required by this decision. 

8. Noise shall be kept at the minimum level possible during construction. The developer 
shall agree to aggressively ensure that all vehicles working in the development shall 
have adequate and fully functioning sound suppression devices installed and 
maintained at all times. 

9. All construction sites shall be maintained in a clean and sanitary condition at all times. 
Construction debris includes food and drink waste. All waste shall be contained on-site 
in proper containers or construction fencing enclosures and shall leave the construction 
site in proper disposal containers. Failure to comply with this condition may result in a 
“Stop Work” order until deficiencies have been corrected to the satisfaction of the City. 

10. No alterations to existing water and sewer connections are proposed.   

11. The project does not propose to add impervious surface, create and/or replace less 
than 10,000 square feet of impervious surface, or alter drainage patterns, therefore no 
stormwater system modifications are required. 

 
X. EXHIBITS   

a) Vicinity Map 
b) Zoning Map 
c) Application 
d) Applicant’s narrative 
e) Site Plan 



SP 20-03 Mitchell Building  Page 14 of 14 
Staff Report to Planning Commission – March 16, 2021 

f) Elevations/Signs 
g) Landscape Plan 
h) Linn County Road Department Email dated 2.5.21 
i) City Engineering Comments dated 2.22.21 

 



SP 20-03 EXHIBIT  
a) Vicinity Map 

  



Project Site

Vicinity Map SP 20-03

Linn County GIS

Highways

Roads

Tax Lots

1/27/2021, 1:52:52 PM
0 0.01 0.020.01 mi

0 0.02 0.040.01 km

1:1,128

This product is for informational purposes only and may not have been prepared for, or be suitable for legal, engineering, or surveying purposes. Users of this information should review or consult the



SP 20-03 EXHIBIT 
b) Zoning Map 

  



Project Site

LI/C

GI

GI

GI

GI

CO

CO

CO

Zoning Map SP 20-03

Linn County GIS

Highways

Roads

Tax Lots

City Zoning

C-1, COMMERCIAL

CB -- CENTRAL BUSINESS

CC -- COMMUNITY COMMERCIAL

CC-CENTRAL COMMERCIAL

CENTRAL COMMERCIAL

COMMERCIAL

COMMERCIAL-RECREATION

1/27/2021, 1:50:05 PM
0 0.01 0.020.01 mi

0 0.02 0.040.01 km

1:1,128

This product is for informational purposes only and may not have been prepared for, or be suitable for legal, engineering, or surveying purposes. Users of this information should review or consult the



SP 20-03 EXHIBIT 
c) Application 

  















SP 20-03 EXHIBIT 
d) Applicant’s narrative 

  



































SP 20-03 EXHIBIT 
e) Site Plan 

  





SP 20-03 EXHIBIT 
f) Elevations/Signs 

  















SP 20-03 EXHIBIT 
g) Landscape Plan 

  





SP 20-03 EXHIBIT 
h) Linn County Road Department Email 

dated 2.5.21 
  



 Get more appsBarracuda Essentials

Hello Ma�,
 
RE: SP 20-03 – Old Salem Rd
 
Comments from Linn County Road Department:
 
A commercial access review from the Linn County Road Department will be required.  Please contact the Linn County Road
Department with ques�ons.
 
Thanks,
 
Stephanie Taylor
Linn County Road Department
3010 Ferry Street SW
Albany, OR  97322
staylor@co.linn.or.us
(541) 967-3919
 

Comments - SP 20-03

Mark as unread

To:

Taylor, Stephanie <staylor@co.linn.or.us>
Fri 2/5/2021 9:27 AM

Matt Straite;

DELETE REPLY REPLY ALL FORWARD    

mailto:staylor@co.linn.or.us


SP 20-03 EXHIBIT 
i) City Engineering Comments dated 

2.22.21 
 



TO: Matt Straite, City Planner 

FROM: Janelle Booth, Millersburg City Engineer 

DATE: February 22, 2021 

SUBJECT: SP 20-03 Mitchell - Engineering Comments 

 

Engineering has reviewed the above project and has the following comments: 

 
1. No alterations to existing water and sewer connections are proposed.   

2. The project does not propose to add impervious surface, create and/or replace 
less than 10,000 square feet of impervious surface, or alter drainage patterns, 
therefore no stormwater system modifications are required. 

3. Copies of any required federal or state permits that may be required shall be filed 
in the Record File of this application. 
 

4. This approval does not negate the need to obtain permits, as appropriate from 
other local, state or federal agencies, even if not specifically required by this 
decision. 

 


	A_Planning Commission Meeting Agenda_03-16-2021
	C_1_Draft_Planning Commission Meeting Minutes_1-19-2021-kw
	D_1_SP 20-03 Mitchell Staff Report- Full
	City of Millersburg                  March 9, 2021




